IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 22-719

SCA EFiled: Feb 06 2023 04:33PM EST Transaction ID 69084025

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, Respondent

V.)

Appeal from a Final Order of the Circuit Court of Fayette County (20-F-76)

SHERIE M. TITCHENELL, Petitioner

Petitioner's Brief

NOTICE THIS FILING CONTAINS CONFIDENTIAL **RULE 40 MATERIALS**

/s/ Evan J. Dove EVAN J. DOVE (WVSB# 13196) Counsel for the Petitioner Clay Law Firm, PLLC P.O. Box 746 Fayetteville, WV 25840 (304) 574-2182 evandove@paulclaylaw.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW WHEN IT ALLOWED THE HEARSAY TESTIMONY OF R.J.B. AND PETITIONER'S CO-DEFENDANTS TO BE CONSIDERED BY THE JURY, OVER A CONFRONTATION CLAUSE AND DUE PROCESS OBJECTION BY COUNSEL, AND BY PRIOR ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT.
- II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW WHEN IT PREVENTED PETITIONER'S COUNSEL FROM CROSS-EXAMININIG PETITIONER'S CO-DEFENDANT AT TRIAL, AFTER ADVERSE STATEMENTS WERE MADE AGAINST PETITIONER, AND WHEN THE CIRCUIT COURT PREVENTED PETITIONER'S COUNSEL FROM DIRECTLY EXAMINING DEFENSE WITNESSES.
- III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY ABUSING ITS JUDICIAL DISCRETION WHEN IT FAILED TO EXERCISE ANY JUDICICIAL DISCRETION IN ALLOWING EVIDENCE OF PETITIONER'S ALLEGED PRIOR BAD ACTS, WITHOUT A RULE 404(b) ANALYSIS, TO BE CONSIDERED BY THE JURY.
- IV. THE CIRCUIT COURT LACKED SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICITON OVER THOSE CERTAIN ALLEGED BAD ACTS OF THE PETITIONER THAT OCCURRED OUTSIDE OF FAYETTE COUNTY, AND YEARS PRIOR TO THE DEATH OF R.J.B.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The present matter comes before this Honorable Court on appeal from a final *Sentencing Order*¹, entered August 31, 2022, by the lower court, the Twelfth Judicial Circuit of West Virginia (Fayette County), the Honorable Paul M. Blake, Jr. presiding.

On December 26, 2018, Detective Sergeant James R. Pack of the Oak Hill, West Virginia Police Department, along with several supporting officers, were dispatched to Plateau Medical Center in Oak Hill, West Virginia, in reference to the death of the alleged victim in this matter, R.J.B. (A.R. Vol. I, Criminal Complaint, p. 3). R.J.B. had arrived at the hospital by ambulance for symptoms relating to cardiac arrest. *Id*.

¹ See (A.R. Vol. I, Sentencing Order, p. 54).

Officers were then advised that R.J.B. had several bruises on her body that caused hospital and EMS personnel to suspect child abuse and/or neglect. *Id.* After questioning R.J.B.'s father and Petitioner's co-defendant, Mr. Marty Browning, officers were notified that R.J.B. had passed away. *Id.* at 4. Due to the circumstances surrounding R.J.B.'s death, officers decided to launch an investigation against Petitioner and her codefendants, Mr. Marty Browning and Mrs. Julie Browning (Julie Titchenell at said time). *Id.*

In the days after R.J.B.'s death, officers from the Oak Hill Police Department questioned the Petitioner and her co-defendants through voluntary interrogation, and then searched their home in Oak Hill, West Virginia. *Id* at 4-16. At the conclusion of the aforementioned questioning and search of Petitioner's home, a child abuse and neglect investigation was opened against the Petitioner and her co-defendants. *Id*. During this investigation, R.J.B.'s body was inspected by the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner of West Virginia, while both Oak Hill Police Department and Fayette County CPS investigators questioned multiple witnesses in both Fayette and Nicholas County in regard to alleged child abuse/neglect actions against R.J.B., perpetrated by Petitioner and her co-defendants. *Id*.

At the conclusion of the aforementioned joint police and CPS investigation against Petitioner and her co-defendants, police utilized the confidential hearsay therapy notes of another child that lived in the Titchenell/Browning home, B.M., as the primary basis for indicting Petitioner and her co-defendants. ² *Id.* at 17-22.

² It should be noted that these therapy notes were Ordered by the same lower court that presided in this felony matter. Specifically, when B.M. was taken into CPS custody, the lower court in a concurrent Juvenile Abuse &

The secondary basis for said indictment was the ultimate finding by the Medical Examiner (ten (10) months after R.J.B.'s death), that although R.J.B's manner of death was deemed to be "Undetermined" and likely due to sepsis following pneumonia, in light of prior CPS accusations in Nicholas County, the Examiner's office suspected abuse and/or neglect of R.J.B at the joint hands of her caregivers, the Petitioner and her co-defendants. <u>See</u> (A.R. Vol. I, Report of Death Investigation and Post-Mortem Examination Findings, p. 96).

Based upon the aforementioned police and CPS findings, Petitioner and her codefendants were then jointly indicted by the Fayette County Grand Jury in the May 2020 term of Court on the following two (2) felony counts: 1) Death of a child by a parent, guardian or custodian or other person by child abuse (W.Va. Code § 61-8D-2a(a)); and 2) Child neglect resulting in death (W.Va. Code § 61-8D-4a). (A.R. Vol. I, Indictment, p. 23). In the interest of judicial economy, Petitioner and her codefendants' cases were then set for a joint jury trial at their arraignment. *Id*.

In preparation of the Petitioner's joint trial with her co-defendants, Petitioner filed on or about October 6, 2020, *Defendant's Motion to Suppress Statements of Codefendants*, which specifically asked the lower court to prevent the State from introducing testimonial evidence from or made by her co-defendants in the State's casein-chief. <u>See</u> (A.R. Vol. I, Order Granting Defendant's Motion to Suppress Statements of Co-defendants, p. 25 *et seq*.).

Neglect case against Petitioner, Ordered B.M. to counseling to prepare her for testimony in the criminal trial against Petitioner. <u>See</u> Fayette County Juvenile Abuse & Neglect Case Nos. 19-JA-8, 9, and 10.

At a joint Motions Hearing held by the lower court on May 24, 2021, Petitioner and her co-defendants all made this aforementioned request and pursuant to this Honorable Court's decision in *State v. Mechling*, 219 W. Va. 366, 368, 633 S.E. 2d 311, 313 (2006), the lower court granted Petitioner and her co-defendants' joint request to suppress such statements, and further held that, "The State of West Virginia may not present statements made by the [Petitioner's] co-defendants in their case-in-chief." The State of West Virginia did not object to this request. (A.R. Vol. I, Order Granting Defendant's Motion to Suppress Statements of Co-defendants, p. 26).

After this hearing, and in an effort to improve its case in light of R.J.B.'s autopsy results listing an undetermined manner of death, on or about September 22, 2021, the State of West Virginia sought to bring in all prior allegations of child abuse and neglect against Petitioner and her co-defendants through *res gestae* intrinsic evidence. However, because the State was unsure of how the lower court would rule on said evidence, the State filed its *Notice of Intent to Use 404(b) Evidence*. <u>See</u> (A.R. Vol. I, Notice of Intent to use 404(b) Evidence, p. 45 *et seq*.).

These aforementioned allegations included previous investigations made by Nicholas County CPS that were ultimately found to be unsubstantiated³; testimony of R.J.B.'s physical education teacher from years before R.J.B.'s death concerning the same allegations⁴; and a prior unsubstantiated incident in which R.J.B. broke her leg.⁵ All of these matters took place in Nicholas County, West Virginia, many alleged to have occurred years before R.J.B.'s death.

³ <u>See</u> (A.R. Vol. V, Trial Tr., June 9, 2022, p. 293-320).

⁴ See Testimony of Carrie Ciliberti, (A.R. Vol. VIII, Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, February 8, 2022).

⁵ <u>See</u> Testimony of Kara Gillespie, (A.R. Vol. VIII, Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, February 8, 2022).

In response to this action, on or about June 13, 2021, counsel for Petitioner's codefendant filed, *Defendant Julie Browning's Motion in Limine*, to prevent the State from "shotgunning"⁶ cumulative evidence from years prior to R.J.B.'s death without a Rule 404(b) Hearing. <u>See</u> (A.R. Vol. I, Defendant Julie Browning's Motion in Limine, p. 28). All of the defendants jointly supported and requested this motion on the basis that the State's evidence was unrelated to R.J.B.'s ultimate cause of death; had previously been investigated⁷; and fell outside of the lower court's Fayette County jurisdiction⁸.

In further support of the argument that the lower court lacked jurisdiction, on or about June 16, 2021, Petitioner filed her *Motion to Dismiss the Indcitment*, which was likewise supported jointly by her co-defendants, in an effort to raise the issue of the lower court's subject matter jurisdiction over incidents alleged to have occurred in Nicholas County during the Indictment timeframe. <u>See</u> (A.R. Vol. I, Defendant's Motion to Dismiss the Indictment, p. 34 *et seq.*). Petitioner attached exhibits to this Motion proving that the abuse and neglect allegations the State sought to introduce were investigated in Nicholas County. *Id*.

Despite Petitioner's jurisdiction argument, the lower court dispensed with the notion of dismissing the Indictment on grounds of subject matter jurisdiction at a Motions Hearing on October 8, 2021. (A.R. Vol. I, Order (October 8, 2021 Hearing), p. 49 *et seq*.). The basis for this was the lower court's adoption of the State's argument that wrong acts committed in Nicholas County could be prosecuted in Fayette County, as this Honorable Court had authorized the State of West Virginia in Ohio County, in the case

⁶ <u>See</u> State v. Thomas, 157 W. Va. 640, 656, 203 S.E.2d 445, 456 (1974).

⁷ <u>See</u> (A.R. Vol. V, Trial Tr., June 9, 2022, p. 293-320).

⁸See (A.R. Vol. II, Trial Tr., June 6, 2022, p. 227-228, ll. 15-24 & 1-23, respectively).

of *State v. Dennis*, 216 W. Va. 331, 607 S.E. 2d 437 (2004), to prosecute an ongoing kidnapping crime that took place in both West Virginia and Ohio, over the course of several days. *Id.* at 50.

The lower court did not find the Petitioner's counter argument that *Dennis* has nothing to do with an alleged crime that happened entirely within West Virginia, and that Petitioner had a constitutional right to be tried in the county in which she was alleged to have committed said past crime, to be persuasive. However, in light of the overarching 404(b) issue, the lower court did agree to take the ultimate matter of introducing alleged evidence of prior bad acts that occurred outside of Fayette County under advisement. *Id.* at 50.

The outstanding question of what prior bad act evidence would be permitted to be used against the Petitioner and her co-defendants at trial was ultimately determined on February 8, 2022, at a 404(b) Motions Hearing. After hearing testimony from Kara Gillespie, a nurse that performed one (1) intake treatment of R.J.B. on one (1) occasion in 2015 in Nicholas County, and Carrie Ciliberti, a physical education teacher for R.J.B. several years prior to her death, the lower court, without asking for Petitioner's opinion in regard to the State's argument, ruled that all evidence that was to be presented at trial from Nicholas County (a period comprising over three (3) years worth of time), was *res gestae* intrinsic evidence, as it was evidence meant to show, "common scheme, pattern, design, or whatever".9 (A.R. Vol. VIII, Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, February 8, 2022, p. 103). This was despite the fact that no evidence was presented at said 404(b)

⁹ Petitioner's co-defendants, Julie Browning and Marty Browning, did make formal objections to why this evidence was 404(b) evidence, which Petitioner supported, however the lower court made its ruling without allowing further comment from Petitioner.

hearing as to who abused and/or neglected R.J.B., and in addition to the liberal use of hearsay and double hearsay by the State's witnesses, over the joint objection of the defendants' counsel, to justify that anyone abused and/or neglected R.J.B. at all. (A.R. Vol. VIII, Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, February 8, 2022).

Finally, in regard to the aforementioned 404(b) hearing, the lower court did not give findings of fact in regard to its decision to declare all evidence from Nicholas County intrinsic, did not address how said evidence was more probative than prejudicial under Rule 403, and ultimately did not ever enter an Order explaining the lower court's final decision.¹⁰

The aforementioned unsupported decision by the lower court to allow all prior allegations of abuse and neglect from Nicholas County was then used by the State to great effect at trial. Specifically, the State recalled both Carrie Ciliberti and Kara Gillespie back to testify at trial, and further called B.M., whose previously mentioned hearsay therapy notes were the Oak Hill Police Department's primary basis for their Complaint.¹¹

All three (3) witnesses testified about abuse and neglect allegations against the Petitioner and her co-defendants (allowing the state to shotgun years worth of previous allegations made against the Petitioner in Nicholas County), that were ultimately investigated and found to be unsubstantiated by Nicholas County CPS¹². However, the

¹⁰ The lower court did enter an Order to pay the State's expert for this hearing, but there is no record of the lower court ever addressing the 404(b) issue. (A.R. Vol. I, Order Directing the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals to Pay for Testimony of Dreama Short, Licensed Psychologist, p. 52; A.R. Vol. I, Certified Docket Sheet, p. 61).

¹¹ It should be noted that B.M. never testified at the February 8, 2022 404(b) Hearing, and neither the lower court nor defense counsel was aware of what prior alleged bad acts in Nicholas County she was going to testify to at trial.

¹² <u>See</u> (A.R. Vol. V, Trial Tr., June 9, 2022, p. 293-320).

most egregious violations of Petitioner and her co-defendants' right to a fair trial was yet to come.

During both the testimonies of Carrie Ciliberti and B.M. in the State's case-inchief, the lower court allowed, over joint objections from defendants' counsel, both witnesses to present testimonial hearsay evidence from R.J.B., from 2014 until the week of R.J.B.'s death in 2018, in direct violation of the Petitioner's right to confront her accuser.¹³ This witness testimony further included testimonial hearsay statements of alleged conversations between R.J.B., the Petitioner, and her co-defendants, that were presented to the jury for the purpose of proving that the defendants were abusive and/or neglectful to R.J.B., which resulted in her death.¹⁴ This decision by the lower court was in direct violation of its earlier Suppression Order, occurred before Petitioner had an opportunity to cross-examine her co-defendants about their alleged statements, forced the Petitioner into a position in which she virtually had to testify in her defense, and ultimately resulted in her conviction of neglecting R.J.B. to death.¹⁵

After the State concluded its case-in-chief, Petitioner then sought to call her own defense witnesses to clarify the aforementioned Nicholas County abuse allegations, and to combat the hearsay testimony of R.J.B. through Carrie Ciliberti and B.M. However, in a move that surprised both Petitioner and her co-defendants, the lower court during the trial, *sua sponte*, and over objection of counsel, mandated that defense counsel

¹³ <u>See</u> (A.R. Vol. V, Trial Tr., June 9, 2022, p. 85-86; p. 102, ll. 1-24; p. 119, ll. 15-20; p. 84, ll. 5-10; p. 102, ll. 17-20; p. 95-99; and p. 99, ll. 9-19).

¹⁴ <u>See</u> (A.R. Vol. V, Trial Tr. June 9, 2022, p. 178-181; p. 197-99).

¹⁵ Petitioner avers that in regard to B.M.'s testimony, counsel was given a limited amount of therapy notes covering what B.M. was alleged to have previously told her therapist. However, the hearsay testimony of R.J.B. made at trial by B.M. against Petitioner completely blindsided Petitioner as B.M. did not testify at the 404(b) Hearing, and the exact nature of B.M.'s testimony had never been brought up until that moment at trial.

would not be able to independently perform direct examination on defense witnesses, and would further not be allowed to cross-examine witnesses that were called by other defense counsel, even in situations in which testimony was harmful to Petitioner.¹⁶ See (A.R. Vol. V, Trial Tr., June 9, 2022, p. 238-239; and p. 252-253); and (A.R. Vol. VI, Trial Tr. June 10, 2022, p.295 & 296, ll. 21-24 & 2-6, respectively). The lower court even went so far as to prevent Petitioner from directly examining her own expert pathologist, Dr. Cyril Wecht.

This mandate was upheld only until the actual defendants began to testify, at which time the lower court strangely allowed Petitioner to question her co-defendant, Julie Browning, but only through direct examination, and only in regard to subjects that had not already been asked by the State during cross-examination, and by Mrs. Browning's counsel during direct. (A.R. Vol. V, Trial Tr., June 9, 2022, p. 238-239; and p. 252-253). This prohibition on asking about previously mentioned matters included when Petitioner's co-defendant, Julie Browning, testified on cross-examination with the State that Petitioner was responsible for neglecting R.J.B. the night before her death. <u>See (A.R. Vol. VI, Trial Tr. June 10, 2022, p. 250-316).</u>

At the conclusion of Petitioner's six (6) day jury trial, and after hearing all of the aforementioned damning hearsay testimony supposedly from R.J.B., and after further being crippled during her own defense case, Petitioner's jury ultimately found her innocent of Count One of the Indictment, but found that she was guilty of Count Two.

¹⁶ For example, if defendant Julie Browning's counsel called a witness during her defense case, Petitioner was prevented from directly asking any questions, on direct or cross, to Julie Browning's witness and vice versa. Petitioner's counsel was forced to field any questions he wanted to ask to co-defendants' witnesses through codefendants' counsel. (This included Petitioner's own expert pathologist, Dr. Wecht, who was called by Mr. Browning's counsel). This prevented Petitioner's counsel from asking any questions to witnesses that would have harmed Petitioner's co-defendants.

This decision resulted in Petitioner being sentenced by the lower court to a indeterminate period of not less than three (3) nor more than fifteen (15) years in the State Penitentiary. (A.R. Vol. I, Sentencing Order, p. 54 *et seq*.). Despite her spotless criminal history, the lower court further elected to deny her probation given the nature of her conviction. *Id*.

In light of all of the foregoing, Petitioner filed her Notice to Appeal with this Honorable Court on September 20, 2022, and after a brief extension of time being granted by the Court to perfect her Appeal, the following matters are now mature for the Court's consideration.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner asserts that the lower court erred as a matter of law when it allowed the hearsay testimony of R.J.B. and Petitioner's co-defendants to be considered by the jury in the State's case-in-chief, over a Confrontation and Due Process Clause objection by counsel, and by prior Order of the lower court. When the lower court allowed the hearsay testimony of R.J.B. and Petitioner's co-defendants to be considered by the jury, Petitioner's constitutionally guaranteed rights to confront her accuser and due process under the law were violated. Petitioner was never able to develop testimony in regard to these witnesses, and this directly resulted in Petitioner's conviction, as it was the chief evidence the State presented to the jury at trial; for these reasons, the lower court erred as a matter of law.

Further, the *sua sponte* mandate of the lower court that prevented defense counsel form independently examining defense witnesses, including in instances where

defendants' interests were adverse to each other, was a violation of Petitioner's right to defend herself with the constitutionally guaranteed right to effective assistance of counsel. This directly resulted in Petitioner's conviction.

Additionally, the lower court erred through an abuse of judicial discretion when it failed to exercise any judicial discretion at all when considering if evidence of previous unsubstantiated allegations of abuse and neglect against R.J.B.'s should presented to the jury at trial, and further by not explaining its findings and conclusions for such action in an Order.

Finally, the lower court erred as a matter of law as once it declared all evidence from Nicholas County, West Virginia, to be intrinsic criminal evidence, the lower court lost subject matter jurisdiction, as said criminal behavior must be prosecuted in the county in which the alleged crimes are claimed to have occurred.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

As the principle issues in regard to these matters concern fundamental matters of public importance, and because several issues will likely present matters of first impression to the Court, the Petitioner would submit that pursuant to Rule 18(a) of the *Revised Rules of Appellant Procedure, Final Version*, oral argument is necessary. Specifically, Petitioner prays that these matters are set for Rule 20 argument.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW WHEN IT ALLOWED THE HEARAY TESTIMONY OF R.J.B. AND PETITIONER'S CO-DEFENDANTS TO BE CONSIDERED BY THE JURY, OVER A CONFRONTATION CLAUSE AND DUE PROCESS OBJECTION BY COUNSEL, AND BY PRIOR ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT.

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