# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA SCA EFiled: Apr 24 2023

Docket No. 22-719

SCA EFiled: Apr 24 2023 05:11PM EDT Transaction ID 69881448

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

Respondent,

v.

SHERIE M. TITCHENELL,

Petitioner.

# RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the August 21, 2022, Order Circuit Court of Fayette County Case No. 20-F-76

> PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

GAIL V. LIPSCOMB ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 1900 Kanawha Blvd. E. State Capitol, Bldg. 6, Ste. 406 Charleston, WV 25305 Telephone: (304) 558-5830 Facsimile: (304) 558-5833

Email: Gail. V. Lipscomb@wvago.gov

State Bar No. 7007

#

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

The significance of Rule 103 has been recognized as providing that "the objecting party should not benefit from an insufficient objection if the grounds asserted in a valid objection could have been obviated had the objecting party alerted the offering party to the true nature of the objection." *State v. DeGraw*, 196 W. Va. 261, 272, 470 S.E.2d 215, 216 (1996) (quoting 1 Franklin D. Cleckley, Handbook on Evidence for West Virginia Lawyers § 1–7(C)(2) at 78 (3rd ed. 1994). As Petitioner fails to point to any relevant or felicitous authority to support this claim, Petitioner's argument must fail.

# c. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

Petitioner claims she was denied effective assistance of counsel by not being permitted to conduct an independent examination of defense witnesses. Pet'r's Br. 22 Notwithstanding the court's full discretion to exercise reasonable control over the mode and order of examining witnesses, and the absence of any abuse of discretion by the court in doing so, an ineffective assistance of counsel claim is not properly raised on a direct appeal. "In past cases, this Court has cautioned that '[i]neffective assistance claims raised on direct appeal are presumptively subject to dismissal." State v. Woodson, 222 W. Va. 607, 621, 671 S.E.2d 438, 452 (2008) (quoting State v. Miller, 197 W.Va. at 611, 476 S.E.2d at 558); State ex rel. Daniel v. Legursky, 195 W. Va. 314, 318 n.1, 465 S.E.2d 416, 420 n.1 (1995) ("Traditionally, ineffective assistance of counsel claims are not cognizable on direct appeal."); see also State v. Martin R., No. 15 0580, 2016 WL 1456077, at \*3 (W. Va. Apr. 12, 2016) (memorandum decision) (same); State v. Brichner, No. 14-0659, 2015 WL 1236005, at \*2 (W. Va. Supreme Court, Mar. 16, 2015) (memorandum decision) ("As an initial matter, we observe that petitioner's ineffective assistance of counsel claims are not properly before this Court on a direct appeal."). Indeed, this Court has held that "[i]t is the extremely rare case when this Court will find ineffective assistance of counsel . . . on a direct appeal." Syl. Pt. 10, in part, State v. Triplett, 187 W.Va. 760, 421 S.E.2d 511 (1992).

# IV. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in ruling the State's evidence of other acts was admissible as intrinsic evidence, and not based on Rule 404(b).

Petitioner's third assignment of error claims the trial court erroneously ruled the State's evidence of other acts was admissible as intrinsic evidence, rather than prior bad acts pursuant to West Virginia Rules of Evidence Rule 404(b); and, as such, the court failed to conduct the proper

analysis for admissibility. Pet'r's Br. 23. Petitioner identifies the improperly admitted evidence as prior "evidence of abuse and neglect from Nicholas County, West Virginia". Pet'r's Br. 23.

As part of a circuit court's determination regarding the admissibility of other acts, "[b]efore determining that Rule 404(b) applies in this case, we must first determine if the 'other bad acts' were intrinsic evidence or extrinsic evidence." *State v. Dennis*, 216 W. Va. 331, 351, 607 S.E.2d 437, 457 (2004) (quoting *State v. LaRock*, 196 W. Va. 294, 312 n. 29, 470 S.E.2d 613, 631 n. 29 (1996) (citing *State v. Williams*, 900 F.2d 823, 825 (5th Cir. 1990))); *Harris*, 230 W.Va. at 721, 742 S.E.2d at 137 (quotation omitted). Thus, a Rule 404(b) analysis is only triggered *after* a finding is made that the anticipated evidence is in fact, extrinsic, and "is extraneous and is not intimately connected or blended with the factual circumstances of the charged offense." *Id.* at 722, 742 S.E.2d at 138 (internal quotations and citation omitted).

This Court has provided solid guidance in identifying and determining when evidence is intrinsic evidence. "Other act' evidence is 'intrinsic' when the evidence of the other act and the evidence of the crime charged are 'inextricably intertwined'... or the other acts were 'necessary preliminaries' to the crime charged." LaRock, at 312 n. 29, 470 S.E.2d at 631 n. 29 (quoting United States v. Williams, 900 F.2d 823, 825 (5th Cir. 1990)). "Under our jurisprudence, there is a clear distinction between evidence offered as res jestae [sic] of the offense charged and Rule 404(b) evidence." State v. Biehl, 224 W.Va. 584, 589, 687 S.E.2d 367, 372 (2009)(per curiam); State v. Slater, 212 W.Va. 113, 119, 569 S.E.2d 189, 195 (2002)(per curiam)("After considering the testimony at issue, we agree with the circuit court that the evidence was 'intrinsic' to the indicted charge and, therefore, not governed by Rule 404(b)"). This Court in Harris explained that evidence is admissible as intrinsic evidence if it furnishes part of the context of the crime, is necessary for a full presentation of the case, or is "so intimately connected with and explanatory

of the crime charged against the defendant and is so much a part of the setting of the case and its 'environment' [that it is necessary] to complete the story of the crime on trial by proving its immediate context[.]" *Harris*, 230 W. Va. at 721-22, 742 S.E.2d at 137-38 (quoting *Williams*, 900 F.3d at 825)(further noting that evidence is intrinsic and admissible where the "uncharged offense is so linked together in point of time and circumstances with the crime charged that one cannot be fully shown without proving the other . . . ."). "This Court has consistently held that evidence which is "intrinsic" to the indicted charge is not governed by Rule 404(b)." *Id.* at 722, 742 S.E.2d at 138 (gathering cases); *State v. Cyrus*, 222 W.Va. 214, 664 S.E.2d 99 (2008) (*per curiam*).

The United States Supreme Court has expressed the importance of intrinsic evidence to satisfy juror expectations in deciding a story's truth, stating "the prosecution with its burden of persuasion needs evidentiary depth to tell a continuous story." *Old Chief v. United States*, 519 U.S. 172, 190 (1997). "The jury is entitled to know the 'setting' of a case. It cannot be expected to make its decision in a void without knowledge of the time, place and circumstances of the acts which form the basis of the charge." *Harris*, 230 W.Va. at 721-22, 742 S.E.2d at 137-38 (quotations and citations omitted). Intrinsic evidence, commonly referred to as *res gestae* evidence, "is vitally important in many trials." *Id.* at 723, 742 S.E.2d at 139 (quoting *Old Chief*, 519 U.S. at 189).

It enables the factfinder to see the full picture so that the evidence will not be confusing and prevents gaps in a narrative of occurrences which might induce unwanted speculation." *United States v. Metz*, 34 M.J. 349, 351 (C.M.A. 1992) (footnote and citation omitted). Admission of evidence of a criminal defendant's prior bad acts, received to establish the circumstances of the crime on trial describing its immediate context, has been approved in many other jurisdictions following the adoption of the Rules of Evidence. *State v. Agee*, 326 N.C. 542, 391 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1990).

Harris, at 723, 742 S.E.2d at 139. When considering these factors, "[h]istorical evidence of uncharged prior acts which is inextricably intertwined with the charged crime is admissible over a

Rule 403 objection [and is] not intended to prohibit a prosecutor from presenting a full picture of a crime . . . . " LaRock, 196 W.Va. at 313, 470 S.E.2d at 632. The introduction of intrinsic evidence gives the jury a complete picture of the charged crime and avoids fragmentizing the case. See Harris, 230 W. Va. 717, 742 S.E.2d 133. Both this Court and the United States Supreme Court have recognized that "jurors do not want abstract cases; they demand a coherent evidentiary narrative and, without this narrative, may penalize the State—the party with the burden of evidentiary persuasion." Old Chief, 519 U.S. 172, 188-89. This premise is consistent with other jurisdictions wherein, "[t]he law allows the introduction of evidence for the purpose of showing that there is more than one act upon which proof of an element of an offense may be based." Harris, 230 W.Va. at 723, 742 S.E.2d at 139 (quoting State v. Arceo, 928 P.2d 843 (Haw. 1996)).

Accordingly, once a determination is made by the circuit court that prior acts are relevant and admissible as *intrinsic* evidence, a Rule 404(b) analysis is not required. Rather, the remaining analysis for the admissibility of such evidence is the determination of relevance and the balancing test pursuant to Rule 403. W. Va. R. Evid. 403. It is axiomatic that irrelevant evidence is inadmissible at trial. *See* W. Va. R. Evid. 402. Relevant evidence—evidence that "has any tendency to make a fact [of consequence] more or less probable"—is generally admissible at trial subject to the balancing test embedded in West Virginia Rule of Evidence 403. *Compare* W. Va. R. Evid. 401(a), (b) *with* W. Va. R. Evid. 403. *Cf.* Syl. Pt. 9, *State v. Derr*, 192 W. Va. 165, 451 S.E.2d 731 (1994) (noting that the rules of evidence "strongly encourage the admission of as much evidence as possible" subject to Rule 403's balancing test). This balancing test compels the admission of relevant evidence so long as its probative value is not substantially outweighed by a danger of "unfair prejudice, confusing the issues, misleading the jury, undue delay, wasting time, or [is] cumulative[.]" W. V. R. Evid. 403.

The trial court "enjoys broad discretion" in conducting this balancing test. Syl. Pt. 10, in part, *Derr*, 192 W. Va. 165, 451 S.E.2d 731. "Rulings on the admissibility of evidence are largely within a trial court's sound discretion and should not be disturbed unless there has been an abuse of discretion." Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Peyatt*, 173 W. Va. 317, 315 S.E.2d 574 (1983) (citing *State v. Louk*, W.Va., 301 S.E.2d 596, 599 (1983)). "A trial court's evidentiary rulings, as well as its application of the Rules of Evidence, are subject to review under an abuse of discretion standard." Syl. Pt. 8, *State v. Blevins*, 231 W.Va. 135, 744 S.E.2d 245 (2013) (quoting Syl. Pt. 4, *Rodoussakis*, 204 W.Va. 58, 511 S.E.2d 469). It is, therefore, well-established that a determination regarding the admissibility of evidence is "essentially a matter of trial conduct, and [its] discretion will not be overturned absent a showing of clear abuse." Syl. Pt. 8, *State v. Rollins*, 233 W. Va. 715, 760 S.E.2d 529 (2014) (quoting Syl. Pt. 10, in part, *Derr*, 192 W. Va. 165, 451 S.E.2d 731.

In the case at hand, the circuit court conducted an *in camera* hearing where it heard the evidence sought to be introduced by the State. After the close of the *in camera* testimony, and arguments by all counsel, the court made the following ruling:

I don't think this is 404(b) evidence I think it is intrinsic evidence to show common scheme, pattern, design . . . I don't think its 404(b) evidence.

# A.R. 103. The circuit court went on the explain its ruling by stating,

Court feels that the evidence of these—the medical personnel from Summersville Hospital and the testimony of the teacher that had this child in kindergarten and first grade—that their evidence is admissible. As I indicated earlier, I don't think its 404(b) evidence, but intrinsic to show the pattern, custom, and habits of treatment of this child by these individuals over a period of time... these events are not so isolated in time that the jury can't draw a conclusion that it was a continuing pattern on behalf of these Defendants.

A.R. 108. In summarizing its findings as to the relevance of the evidence, the circuit court determined,

But it is evidence I think that the jury should hear that tells the whole story regarding how this child was treated by these folks that had her custody in Nicholas County and also had her custody here Fayette County.

#### A.R. 109.

R.B.'s official cause of death from necrotizing pneumonia cannot be fully explained by being viewed in a small vacuum. This is precisely where the full presentation of circumstances as to how R.B. came to be in such a deteriorated condition in Petitioner's care must be shown. The ongoing pattern of prior abuse and neglect was critical for the State to present a complete story explaining the relevant history behind Petitioner's final failure to exercise reasonable care ultimately leading to R.B's death. Petitioner's disregard of R.B.'s extreme weight loss down to the 2<sup>nd</sup> percentile resulting in R.B.'s fragile health, App. Vol. III, 153,) is a necessary precursor to demonstrate how R.B. became highly susceptible to infection. The expert testimony of numerous physicians informed the jury that R.B.'s physical health from ongoing caregiver neglect was so depleted by dehydration and lack of nutrition that her body was unable to fight the untreated pneumonia and sepsis infection. Petitioner conceded she did not seek medical attention for R.B. and did not acknowledge R.B.'s condition to be an emergency. App. Vol. VI, 329. A strongly suspicious fracture of R.B.'s femur coupled with an explanation inconsistent with the medical evidence, A.R. 688, 528, deprivation of nutrition in the home; A.R. 1185-1186, 1191, maltreatment of R.B., A.R. 1190, and accounts of unexplained bruising and a second degree burn, A.R. 480, 482, are all inextricably intertwined to the charged crime of Child Neglect Resulting in Death and provide a complete picture of how R.B. died. These prior acts of abuse and neglect demonstrate Petitioner's ongoing pattern of neglectful behavior and consistent disregard of R.B's extremely deteriorating health; ultimately proving that at the time of R.B.'s death Petitioner's actions in

turning a blind eye to the readily observable signs of R.B.'s grave condition and fatal illness was not reasonable.

Here, the circuit court acted soundly and rationally in permitting the admissibility of the prior acts as *intrinsic* evidence. Accordingly, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in its determination. This Court in *State v. McKinley*, 234 W. Va. 143, 764 S.E.2d 303 (2014), held,

[a]fter carefully reviewing the record, we cannot say that the trial court abused its discretion in finding that the prior acts constituted intrinsic evidence, not subject to Rule 404(b) analysis. While the acts were not part of a 'single criminal episode' . . . to the charged offenses, it is difficult to conclude that the evidence was not necessary 'to complete the story of the crimes on trial' or otherwise provide context to the crimes charged.

Id. at 155, 764 S.E.2d at 315; see also State v. Hutchinson, 215 W.Va. 313, 321, 599 S.E.2d 736, 744 (2004) ("We find that the evidence which the appellant challenges on this appeal was merely presented as context evidence illustrating why the appellant committed this murder. It portrayed to the jurors the complete story of the inextricably linked events of the day and amounted to intrinsic evidence."). Petitioner cannot demonstrate the circuit court abused its discretion in concluding the evidence of ongoing conduct of uncharged child neglect and abuse was intrinsic to the crime charged, as this conduct was part of a continuous series of actions—and inactions—all of which were closely and intimately linked to the charged crimes. Therefore, Petitioner's argument lacks merit, and this Court should find the circuit court did not abuse its discretion by admitting the relevant evidence as intrinsic evidence.

V. The trial court did not lack jurisdiction to permit the admission of intrinsic evidence of prior acts occurring in another county. Jurisdictional and venue considerations only apply to charged criminal offenses, and have no application to uncharged intrinsic evidence.

Petitioner's fourth assignment of error claims her constitutional right to be tried where her charged criminal offenses occurred were violated when the court permitted the admission of uncharged intrinsic prior acts occurring in another county to be introduced at Petitioner's trial. Pet'r's Br. 27. Despite the State's initial reliance on *State v. Dennis* in the lower court regarding venue and jurisdiction of a charged offense, and Petitioner's reliance on *Dennis* in her appeal brief, there is no requirement that prior uncharged acts of intrinsic evidence must have been conducted in the same county as the *charged* offenses being prosecuted to be properly admissible.

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